A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Curtis Brogi, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this 

Court to accept review or the Court of Appeals decision tem1inating 

review designated in Part B ofthis petition pursuant to RAP l3.3(a)(l) 

and RAP 13 .4(b ). 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. I3rogi seeks review of the Collli of Appeals decision dated 

March 21, 2016, a copy of which is attached as Appendix A. The 

State's motion to publish was denied on April 27. 2016. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. In the years since the legislature amended the annual review 

statute governing civil commitment for sexual offenders under RCW 

ch. 71.09, to mandate that a detainee show that his mental condition has 

changed through treatment to obtain a trial justif)'ing continued 

confinement parties and courts have struggled with question ofwhat 

type oftreatment suffices. The Court of Appeals held that Mr. Brogi's 

legitimate participation in a culturally attuned and well-respected 

treatment involving a Native American healing program was 

insufficient to satisfy the statutorily required "treatment" because there 

\vcrc not enough onicial documents to allow for public accountability. 



ls there substantial public interest in this Court's determination of a 

critical question left open by this Court about what type of treatment a 

detainee must participate in to meet his statutory and due process 

obligation to show that his mental condition has changed through 

treatment? 

2. When a detainee presents prima facie evidence from a 

quali!ied expert that his mental condition has changed through long

term, continuing participation in a culturally appropriate treatment 

program, does it violate due process and the statutory annual review 

requirements to deny him a trial on his continued confinement? 

0. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Curtis Brogi has been conlined at the Special Commitment 

Center (SCC) since 1997, having been committed in 2000. CP 128, 

133. For over six years, Mr. Rrogi has been actively participating in the 

Native American healing program. CP 152, 63, 66-67. 

The Native American healing program was established by the 

Special Commitment Center ten years ago. Slip op. at 2. The SCC 

arranged for Rrad Mix, a tribal leader. to oversee the program as a 

spiritual advisor. !d. Although he is not a trained sex offender treatment 

provider. tv1r. Mix was well-versed in the spiritual healing program. /d.; 
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CP 180-81. Native American healing is well-established in Canada as a 

method for treating native sex offenders and used in the United States 

for veterans. 

Dr. Halon explained that Native American healing is one ofthe 

sex offender treatment programs at sec with the '·same overarching 

goal to assist offenders to significantly change" as other treatment 

programs, aiming to help committed people so they no longer suffer 

fl·om a mental abnormality or personality disorder and greatly reduce 

their risk of rc-oiTense. CP 146-4 7. Through the Native American 

healing program, Mr. Brogi has worked on resolving ''deep seated 

trauma that had afflicted him and his family for generations" and has 

·•achiever d] insight into his unconscious trauma" that led to his crimes 

and his poor decisions. CP 180. Native American healing teaches 

compassion. empathy, and union with all creatures, vvhich ties the 

individual to the community, culturally and spiritually. CP 148. lt is a 

"powerful therapeutic and learning base" in the context of sex offender 

treatment. CP 147. Mr. Brogi took part in the Medicine Wheel program, 

which involves contl·onting a person's life-development, and it enabled 

him to understand and accept his violent offense history. CP 149, J 80. 

lie has developed positive strategies for expressing anger and is 
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evolving as a caring and nurturing person and his behavior has changed 

as a result, according to Brad Mix, a tribal leader and spiritual advisor 

for the SCC's healing program. CP 180-81. 

Aller clinically intervic\ving Mr. Brogi, conducting 

psychological tests, and reviewing his records, Dr. Hanlon concluded 

that Mr. Brogi benefitted tl·om the treatment he received and no longer 

presented a danger of committing sexually violent offenses. CP 128, 

131, 140-41. He provided a detailed written evaluation explaining his 

conclusion. CP 128-52. 

The State's treatment providers found this program '·appeared to 

be helping" Mr. Brogi. CP 251. He was also learning through advanced 

··educational pursuits'' which included obtaining a bachelor's degree, 

with high grades, specializing in addiction and trauma. CP 251-52, 254. 

He became a leader in the Native American healing program. CP 251. 

lie had attempted the SCC's fonnal sex offender group therapy 

program, but felt ''degraded" in it and disliked its confl·ontational 

approach. CP 254. 

The State's evaluator. Dr. Robert Saari, said he lacked the 

expertise to evaluate Mr. Brogi's mental change due to the Native 

American healing program. CP 254. I Ic suggested Mr. Brogi find 
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another mental health professional to conduct an evaluation. !d. I le 

noted that the SCC"s treatment team agrL'ed Mr. Brogi's NatiYc 

American healing participation was bcnclitting him ami he bad made 

··constructi\c life changes ... CP 251.254. But because Mr. Brogi had 

not worked vvith SCC therapists in their conventional program, Dr. 

Saari found no evidence his mental condition had remitted. CP 254-55. 

At the show cause hearing, the State argued that the treatment 

Mr. Brogi received through the Native American program was not the 

type of treatment the legislature intended. RP 25. 1 The court agreed 

\Vith the State and held that if treatment success was not caused by the 

SCC's mainstream sex offender treatment program, it was not a basis 

for a new trial. RP 34-35. Due to the parties' separate agreement that 

Mr. Brogi is entitled to a trial on whether there is an available less 

restrictive alternative, the court set a trial on that issue only. RP 35. 

The Court of Appeals agreed that the Native American healing 

program may be valid treatment, but does not involved record-keeping 

subject to suflicient public accountability to satisty the implicit purpose 

I RP refers to the report or proceedings ti·om the Show Cause Hearing on 
June 27.2014. 
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of treatment under RCW 71.09.090(4). The Court of Appeals denied 

the State's request to publish its opinion. 

E. ARGUMENT 

The Court of Appeals concocted a d a novel and 
unsupported definition of the type of treatment that 
enables a committed person to change his mental 
condition that is contrary to the plain language of the 
statute and oversteps its authority to interpret 
legislation. 

1. The controlling statute requires probable cause based on 
treatment success that leads to positive change as defined by 
a qual(fied expert and which includes treatment premised on 
culturally-based models 

Courts must "assume the legislature means exactly what it says." 

Stale v. Delgado. 148 Wn.2d 723, 727-28, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). Courts 

"cannot add words or clauses to an unambiguous statute when the 

legislature has chosen not to include that language." !d. at 727. 

Using plain language, the legislature amended RCW 71.09.090 

in 2005, adding section (4)(b). Lmvs ol'2005. ch. 344. ~ 2. RCW 

71.09.090(4)(b) says that when probable cause rests on ''current 

evidence from a licensed professional" of '·a change in the person's 

mental condition brought about through positive response to continuing 

participation in treatment" indicating the person \Vould be safe to be at 
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large if unconditionally released from commitment, the court must 

order a trial on the person's continued confinement. 

The statute did not cw1ail the type of treatment that could lead 

to a positive response in the person's mental condition. RCW 71.09.090 

(4)(b) used the term ''treatment" without limitation or qualification, 

other than requiring a qualified expert to explain that the treatment 

brought the necessary measure of change in a person's metanl 

condition. The purpose ofthe legislation was clarifying that a single 

demographic factor. like "advancing age," which might mower a 

person· s statistical I ike! ihood of reoffcnse, would not instill the 

necessary enduring change to quality as the sole reason for showing a 

person has changed since commitment. Laws of2005, ch. 334, & 1: 

State v. McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d 369, 391, 275 P.3d 1092 (20 12). 

''Absent ambiguity or a statutory definition, [a court] gives the 

words in a statute their common and ordinary meaning. To determine 

the plain meaning of an undefined term, we may look to the 

dictionary." HomeS/reel, Inc. v. State, Department ofRevenue, 166 

Wn.2d 444, 451-52, 210 P.Jd 297 (2009) (quoting Garrison v. 

Washington Srare Nursing Bd., 87 Wn.2d 195. 196, 550 P.2d 7 ( 1976 )). 
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The dictionary definition of medical treatment is: '·J. the 

management and care of a patient; see also CARE. 2. the combating of a 

disease or disorder; called also therapy:· See http://medical

dictionary.the11·ecdictionary.com/treatmcnt. The Meniam-Webster 

medical dictionary similarly defines treatment as ·'the action or manner 

oftreating a patient medically or surgically <treatment of 

tuberculosis>., and "an instance of treating <the cure required many 

treatments>." See http://www.merriam-webster.com/medical/treatment. 

Dictionaries show the common understanding of the term treatment 

broadly means acts relating to caring for a person. 

Ifthc definition oftreatment in RCW 71.09.040(4)(b) was 

ambiguous, the doctrine of lenity would control and the court must 

construe the statute in Mr. Brogi's favor. In re the Detention of 

Hawkins, 169 Wn.2d 796, 801, 238 P.3d 1175 (20 1 0). Under this rule 

of statutory construction, the court must apply the ordinary meaning of 

treatment rather than a narrow definition contrived by the State or Court 

of Appeals. 

Rather than accept the plain language of treatment as a course of 

mental health care monitored by a quali1ied expert as the plain language 

ofRCW 71.09.090(4)(b) states, the Court of Appeals ruled that the 
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legislature must have intended treatment to be based on ''public 

accountability.'' Slip op. at 8. It noted that other statutes direct the State 

to maintain records of professional care and treatment received by the 

committed person.ld., citing RCW 71.09.080(3). And it f~mlted Mr. 

Brogi for failing to ''meaningfully link" Native American healing with 

"the legislature's goals of public accountability and community safety.'' 

!d. 

The novel construction of treatment in the Court of Appeals 

opinion is contrary to this Court's consideration ofthat same language 

in McCuistion. In McCuistion. this Court found that the legislature 

enacted the treatment language in RCW 71.09.090(4)(b) because it 

wanted an "incentive '· for committed people to pat1icipate in treatment 

as opposed to having committed people wait passively for ''advancing 

age" or other demographic factors to change. 174 Wn.2d at 390. The 

nature of the treatment was not the focus of the legislation, other than 

that the treatment must have the effect of changing a person's mental 

condition to the degree necessary to result in a reduction in the person's 

likelihood ofrc-offcnse. 

The Court of Appeals overstepped its authority by creating a 

definition of treatment that does not appear in the statute, is not 
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supported hy the doctrine of lenity, and is not drawn from the plain 

language and dictionary definition. 

Unlike the Court of Appenls, the trial court construed the 

"treatment'' mandated by RCW 71.09.090(4)(b) to mean only the 

SCC's official and formal inpatient sex oi1ender treatment. RP 34-35. 

This interpretation is contrary to the plain language of the statute that 

applied at the time of the show cause hearing. It would he illogical to 

construe the word "treatment" as meaning only the particular 

mainstream treatment program designed and implemented hy the sec, 

absent specific narrowing language in the statute. 

In fact. the State pressed the legislature to adopt a more narrow 

definition of treatment but it did not succeed in this endeavor until 

2015, a long time after Mr. Brogi's show cause hearing. See SSB 5965 

(20 14) (proposal for same amendment adding treatment definition to 

RCW 71.09.020). 2 The 2014 legislature did not pass this proposed 

statute:1 However, in 2015, the legislature enacted several changes to 

2 Available at: http://lawfilcsext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/20 13-
14/Pdf/Biii%20Reports/House/5965-S%20HBA %20PS%20 14.pdf (last viewed 
Aug.). 

1 See http://app.leg. wa.gov/bi II in f'o/summary.aspx?bi 11=5965&year= 
2013 (last viewed May 26, 20 16). 
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the annual review process. including the definition of treatment 

proposed by the prosecution. Laws of 2015, ch. 278, ~ 2 (HB 1 059). 

The recent adoption or a narrow dc1initinn of treatment, at the 

State· s urging. demonstrates that the statute did not previously contain 

this narrow definition. By amending the statute, the legislature 

necessarily demonstrated that the prior statute did not contain the 

definition of treatment relied on by the trial court. See Delgado, 148 

Wn.2d at 729. Narrowing the definition of'"treatment" to only a certain 

class of treatment to the exclusion of an array of other effective 

treatment processes means the former detinition of treatment was not so 

nan·ow. See Vita Food Products, Inc. v. State, 91 Wn.2d 132, 134, 587 

P.2d 535 ( 1978) (''[E]very amendment is made to effect some material 

purpose''). 

The Court of Appeals interpretation of the statute was 

unreasonable. The only qualifying characteristic of treatment in RCW 

71.09.090 (4)(b)(ii) is that it enables a person to change his mental 

condition vvhen positively responding to it. Courts ''do not have the 

power to read into a statute that which we may believe the legislature 

has omitted, be it an intentional or an inadvertent omission.'' Stale v . 

. Marlin, 94 Wn.2d 1, 8, 614 P.2d 164 ( 1980). ·'Appellate courts do not 
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supply omitted language even when the legislature's omission is clearly 

inadvertent.'' In re Pers. Restraint c~f'Acron, 122 Wn.App. 886, 891, 95 

P.3d 1272 (2004 ). The trial court was not free to construe the statute 

based on its speculation about the treatment the legislators might have 

envisioned when enacting the statute. Because Mr. Brogi oilered 

competent evidence from a qualitled expert that he had positively 

changed through a type of sex offender treatment to the degree that he 

was safe to be unconfined, he is entitled to a new trial on the lawfulness 

ofhis continued confinement. CP 140-41, 145-46. 

2. Evidence of Mr. Brogi 's change in mental condUion through 
treatment participation requires a new trial. 

i\ court must order a trial on the legality of a person's on-going 

confinement if probable cause exists to believe that the person's 

condition has so changed that he no longer meets the '·the definition of 

a sexually violent predator." RCW 71.09.090(2)(c). 

Periodic review of the patient's suitability for release is required 

to render commitment constitutional. Jones v. United States. 463 U.S. 

354, 368, I 03 S.Ct. 3043, 77 L.Ed.2d 3043 (1984). Indefinite 

commitment may last only as long as the detainee has a mental disorder 

that causes him to be substantially dangerous to himself or others. 

12 



Foucha v. Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 77,112 S.Ct. 1780, I 18 L.Ed.2d437 

( 1992); ln re Detention o.l Young, 122 Wn.2d L 38-39, 857 P.2d 396 

(1993); U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. I,§ 3; RCW 71.09.060(1). 

RCW 71 .09.090(4)(b) directs a court to order a trial on the 

person's continued confinement ifthere is probable cause based on 

"current evidence from a licensed professional'' of ''a change in the 

person's mental condition brought about through positive response to 

continuing participation in treatment," indicating that the person would 

be safe to be at large if unconditionally released from commitment.4 A 

person makes ''the requisite prima facie showing" for a trial under 

RCW 71.09.090(4) when a qualitied expert indicates that the confined 

person "no longer meets the definition of an SVP, and because he stated 

that this change was due to treatment.'' ln re Det. of Ambers, 160 

Wn.2d 543, 557-59. 158 P.3d 1144 (2007). 

Dr. Halon was a qualified expert who evaluated Mr. Brogi's 

current status. CP 128-59. He interviewed Mr. Brogi, reviewed lengthy 

records, and conducted tests assessing his mental status and risk of 
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reofTcnding. CP 129-31, 139-40. He concluded that Mr. Brogi had 

changed through sex offender treatment and no longer met the criteria 

for total confinement. CP 140-41. He explained the Native American 

healing program was a valid sex offender treatment program capable of 

causing permanent change in a person's behavior, attitudes, and values, 

as it had done for Mr. Brogi. CP 145-46, 148. This conclusion was 

based on his exercise of professional discretion and satisfies the prima 

facie burden set forth under RCW 71.09.090 (4). 

As a person ofNative American heritage, Mr. Brogi connected 

vvith and benefited from the culturally specitic Native American 

program \vhen the SCC's mainstream program was ineffective for him. 

The Court of Appeals recognized the validity of this program, even 

while complaining that more public oversight would ensure community 

safety. But the adequacy of the treatment program in establishing 

sufticient change in Mr. Brogi's condition is a question for the jury at 

trial, once Mr. Brogi meets the statutory threshold of establishing 

probable cause that he has changed through treatment. 

1 Effective July I. 2015, long after the hearing at issue, the legislature 
amended RCW 71.09.020 to detine "treatment" as "the sex offender specific 
treatment program at the special commitment center. .. .'' l-IB 1059. This 
statutory amendment does not apply to Mr. Brogi, as addressed in Mr. Brogi's 
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Having met the criteria necessary to obtain a show cause 

hearing, Mr. Brogi is entitled to receive that hearing. In re Det. of 

Elmore, 162 Wn.2d 27, 36, 168 P.3d 1285 (2007). 

F. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner Curtis Brogi respectfully 

requests that review he granted pursuant to RAP l3.4(h).