RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jul 27, 2016, 2:54 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93195-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In Re the Detention of:

CURTIS BROGI,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SARAH SAPPINGTON
Senior Counsel
WSBA #14514
BROOKE BURBANK
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA #26680
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 389-3916

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Brogi argues that his rights under both the statute and the Due Process Clause were violated by the trial court's denial of his request for a new trial, and urges that there is a substantial public interest in the "critical question" of the type of treatment in which a committed sexually violent predator must participate in order to obtain a new trial pursuant to RCW 71.09.090(4).

Brogi's arguments fail. The NAHP, while a useful adjunct to the SCC's core sex offender treatment program, does not constitute "treatment" under the statute. The court correctly determined that the NAHP is run by a volunteer with no special training in sex offender treatment or psychology, who is not

⁴ The State agreed to set a trial on the issue of Brogi's conditional release to a less restrictive alternative because RCW 71.09.090(2)(d) allows such a hearing without requiring the SVP to show change in his condition. CP at 7. That trial concluded on June 22, 2016, with the jury rejecting Brogi's request for conditional release to the community.

supervised by any SCC staff, does not report disclosures by participants to SCC staff, and keeps no official records of NAHP activities. 2016 WL 1090645 at *4. The Court of Appeals properly found that the program "lacks a level of public accountability consistent with the legislature's community safety goals" and does not constitute "treatment" under the statute. *Id*.

A. Purpose and Procedure of the RCW 71.09.090 Show Cause Hearing

A person committed as an SVP to the custody of DSHS is entitled to an annual review of his mental condition by DSHS. RCW 71.09.070. DSHS's annual review evaluation must address whether the committed person continues to meet the definition of an SVP.⁵ The SVP may also submit his own expert evaluation to the court. *Id.* At the show cause hearing that follows these submissions, the State must "present prima facie evidence that the committed person continues to meet the definition of a sexually violent predator...." RCW 71.09.090(2)(c). If the State fails to meet its burden, the court must order a new trial. RCW 71.09.090(2)(c).

Once the State has made its prima facie case, a new trial will be granted only upon a showing that there is probable cause to believe that evidence exists, since the person's last commitment trial, that: 1) there has been a "substantial" change in the respondent's condition; 2) the change results from either a permanent physiological event such as a stroke or dementia rendering the committed person

⁵ The statute also mandates consideration of the propriety of placement in a Less Restrictive Alternative (LRA). Because this appeal does not involve consideration of LRAs and in the interests of brevity, statutory reference to LRAs will be omitted from this brief.

unable to reoffend, or from a "positive response to continuing participation in treatment." RCW 71.09.090(4)(c). These requirements have withstood repeated challenge in the appellate courts of this State, most recently in *State v. McCuistion*, 174 Wn.2d 369, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012).

In upholding release procedures outlined in RCW 71.09.090, the *McCuistion* Court determined that requiring change as a prerequisite for an evidentiary hearing "does not offend substantive due process principles." 174 Wn.2d at 384. Substantive due process, the Court noted, "requires only that the State conduct periodic review of the patient's suitability for release." *Id.* at 385. The State, the Court noted, "has a substantial interest in encouraging treatment" and "by making treatment the only viable avenue to a release trial (absent a stroke, paralysis, or other physiological change)," the State creates an incentive for participation in treatment. *Id.*

B. Brogi Was Not Entitled To A New Trial Under RCW 71.09.090 Because He Did Not Present Evidence Of Substantial Change Through Treatment

1. "Treatment" means sex-offender specific treatment

It is undisputed that, at the time of the show cause hearing, Brogi had not recently participated in the SCC's sex-offender specific treatment program. CP at 6. Brogi, however, argues that the Court of Appeals' decision that participation in the NAHP does not constitute "treatment" under the statute was "unreasonable." Pet. at 11. This view finds no support in the legislative history of the 2005 amendments to RCW 71.09.090 or in case law, which make clear that, by requiring participation in

"treatment" as a precondition of release, the legislature intended to require participation in sex offender specific treatment, and not simply ancillary programs which, while beneficial, do not address the mental conditions that drive the sex predator's sexually violent behaviors.

RCW 71.09 is intended to address the very long-term treatment needs of violent sexual predators and to incentivize participation in treatment by limiting new trials to those who have participated in treatment. RCW 71.09.010; *McCuistion*, 174 Wn.2d at 394. In 2005, the Legislature amended the portion of the statute governing post-commitment release procedures, clarifying that the only way for an SVP to demonstrate sufficient change such that a new trial is warranted is to show a "substantial" change based on either permanent physical incapacitation or a "positive response to continuing participation in treatment." RCW 71.09.090(4). The *McCuistion* Court noted that, in requiring participation in treatment as a prerequisite to a new trial, the legislature intended to "address the 'very long-term' needs of the sexually violent predator population for treatment and the equally long-term needs of the community for protection from these offenders." 174 Wn.2d at 389. The legislature, the Court continued, "wanted to ensure that the statutory focus remains on treatment and did not want to remove the incentive for successful treatment participation." *Id.* at 390. The

⁶ This limitation relates only to the burden on the SVP of demonstrating change sufficient to warrant a new trial. An SVP may still obtain a new trial if the SCC authorizes him to petition for release pursuant to RCW 71.09.090(1); or if the State fails to present prima evidence that the person remains an SVP pursuant to RCW 71.09.090(2).

Court further acknowledged the State's "substantial interest" in incentivizing treatment for sexually violent predators, noting "the link between sex offender treatment and decreased recidivism," and the State's interest "in protecting public safety by restricting evidentiary hearings to those who have participated in treatment." Id. at 394-95 (emphasis added). This Court considered a similar issue in In re Meirhofer, 182 Wn.2d 632, 639, 343 P.3d 731 (2015). There, the Court used the terms "sex offender treatment" and "treatment" interchangeably, noting, for example, that Meirhofer had "declined treatment" in the same paragraph as recognizing the legislature intended to incentivize "sex offender treatment." Id. at 639.7

In considering what "treatment" qualifies under the statute, the court should consider other statutes or parts of the statute on the same subject matter. US West Communications, Inc. v. Wash. Util. & Transp. Comm'n, 134 Wn.2d 74, 118, 949 P.2d 1337 (1997). In reference to "treatment" in the context of RCW 71.09.090, the legislature was clear as to its intent. In fact, the 2005 amendments to the act included a stated purpose:

[T]he legislature finds that a new trial ordered under the circumstances set forth in *Young* at *Ward* subverts the statutory focus on treatment and reduces community safety by removing all incentive for successful treatment participation in favor of passive aging and distractive committed persons from *fully engaging in sex offender treatment*.

CP at 108 (emphasis added).

⁷ See also In re Det. of McGary ("McGary has refused to participate in sex offender treatment since at least 2007." 155 Wn. App. 771, 784, 231 P.3d 205 (2010) (emphasis added)).

Other portions of the statute make clear that "treatment" means "sex offender treatment." For example, RCW 71.09.020(19) defines a "total confinement facility" like the SCC is "a secure facility that provides supervision and sex offender treatment services in a total confinement setting." (Emphasis added). Further, when an SVP has successfully progressed to the point that they are eligible for release to a less restrictive alternative facility, the SVP is required to receive additional treatment only from "certified sex offender treatment providers or certified affiliate sex offender treatment providers under chapter 18.155 RCW" with exceptions not relevant here. RCW 71.09.350(1). If the conditional release is to a DSHS-run "secure community transition facility," that facility will "either provid[e] or ensur[e] the provision of sex offender treatment services." RCW 71.09.020(16). It would be nonsensical to conclude that the legislature intended to require sex offender treatment upon conditional release, but not while in total confinement at the SCC. That sex offender specific treatment is a prerequisite to a release trial was made even more clear by the legislature's passage, in 2015, of H.B. 1059, defining "treatment" as "the sex offender specific treatment program at the special commitment center or a specific course of sex offender treatment pursuant to RCW 71.09.092(1) and (2)." RCW 71.09.020(20).

2. The NAHP does not constitute "treatment" under the Statute

Brogi asserts that the Court of Appeals rejected his argument that the NAHP constitutes "treatment" under the Statute "because there were not enough

official documents to allow for public accountability." Pet. at 1. This argument mischaracterizes the court's decision. The court noted that Brad Mix, a graphic designer who volunteers as the NAHP's "spiritual advisor," has no experience treating sexually violent predators nor any training specific to SVPs, has "limited knowledge of 'sex offender treatment modalities'" (2016 WL 1090645 at *1,3), is not supervised by any SCC treatment team members, keeps no official records of NAHP activities (*Id.* at *1), "never discloses 'details about what goes on in ceremony' to SCC staff," and does not report disclosures made by participants. *Id.* at *1,3. While the court acknowledged that Brogi's long-term participation in the NAHP may have been beneficial, it concluded that:

the NAHP's activities are largely confidential and are not supervised or conducted by members of a SCC treatment team. No official records are generated from each treatment session. Such a cultural and spiritual program run by a volunteer without oversight by a SCC treatment provider and documentation of participation and progress lacks a level of public accountability consistent with the legislature's community safety goals.

Id. at *4.

This conclusion is well-supported by the record, and does not, as alleged, violate Brogi's statutory or constitutional rights. Mainstream treatment of sex offenders is best when the treatment program incorporates cognitive-behavioral elements. App. A at 14.8 "Treatment should be cognitive-behavioural in orientation, should include relapse preventions, should focus on skills

⁸ This article was referenced at CP 16 and attached to Brogi's Motion for Discretionary Review ("MDR") in the Court of Appeals as Appendix D.

acquisition, and should explicitly target those criminogenic need factors identified during initial assessment." *Id.*

Cognitive-behavioral treatment methods attempt to treat the offender by having him identify his risk factors and learn ways to deal with them. CP at 150. It operates under the scientifically validated premise that negative and inappropriate behavior is often linked to learned negative thoughts. App. A at 8. The purpose of the treatment model is to confront and unlearn the negative thoughts thus eliminating the inappropriate behaviors associated with the negative thoughts. *Id.* Relapse prevention strategies are often incorporated into cognitive-behavioral treatments. *Id.* at 10. Theoretically, relapse prevention teaches the sex offender how to avoid or deal with risky situations and promote "effective self-management." *Id.* "According to [relapse prevention], the best way to reduce recidivism rates is to identify and reduce or eliminate an individual's array of dynamic risk factors." CP at 151.

Brogi's evidence at the trial court was clear that, while incorporating Native American healing often adds to the effectiveness of cognitive-behavioral treatment, it does not replace it. *See generally* App. B. Pearly all of the examples of Native American programs Brogi presented to the trial court include cognitive-behavioral treatment within their program descriptions. The La Macaza Clinic in Quebec, for example, notes that "conventional treatment" is "very useful," and adds that "cultural components" "can enhance participation

⁹ This article was attached to Brogi's MDR as App. F.

by aboriginal offenders." *Id.* at 3. The Native Clan Organization at Stony Mountain in Rockwood, Manitoba, provides "a meld of cognitive-behavioural interventions with spiritual healing." *Id.* at 4. The Aboriginal Sex Offender Healing Program at the Bowden Institution in Alberta is described as "a blend of core programme teaching with service being provided by an Elder to cover spirituality and culture." *Id.* at 8. Another source cited by Brogi concludes that Aboriginal sex offenders are "most likely to benefit from treatment programs" in which the treatment program "focuses specifically on sexual offending," and "is based on a cognitive-behavioural model" that "incorporates content specific to relapse prevention..."App. A at 27-28.

The Native American activities available at the SCC do not incorporate any cognitive-behavioral methodology, a focus on relapse prevention, or any other recognized therapeutic method for treatment of sex offenders. As Mr. Mix explained, "Native American practices are not – it is not psychotherapy." CP at 70. Rather, the activities in which Brogi actually participated involve spiritual practices, such as the Medicine Wheel and Sweat Lodge, which were organized by a spiritual leader. *Id.* at 181.

Nor do the Native American activities at the SCC involve clinical or counseling staff. The activities are supervised by a tribal elder—Brad Mix—and the SCC chaplain; not members of a treatment team. CP at 67-68. Mr. Mix has no formal training in social work, mental health counseling, or psychology. He

is not a licensed mental health provider, ¹⁰ sex offender treatment provider, or social worker. He carries no advanced degrees related to the mental health profession. His training has been "traditional" and has involved talking to individuals who do sex offender treatment. *Id* at 92. His entire understanding of how to treat sex offenders comes from reading on his own and talking to others who do the work. As he stated in his deposition: "So, yeah, I've gotten training through, you know, the people that I've been around and asked questions of, but for the most part it's traditional." *Id* at 92-93.

Nor does NAHP keep any records of their activities, as is required of DSHS. Pursuant to RCW 71.09.080, DSHS must keep records regarding any treatment in which an SVP participates, and those records must be made available upon request. Those records are only to be made available to "[t]he committed person, his or her attorney, the prosecuting agency, the court, the protection and advocacy agency, or another expert or professional person who, upon proper showing, demonstrates a need for access to such records." *Id.* (*See also* WAC 388-880-042 (1)(a)). In part, those records are used to monitor progress, assess treatment outcomes, develop future treatment plans, and produce the statutorily required annual reviews. RCW 71.09.070.

¹⁰ Note that while Mr. Mix is not a licensed professional, he appears to be exempt from such a requirement under RCW 18.225.030(4). "Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prohibit or restrict: ... (4) the practice of marriage and family therapy, mental health counseling, or social work under the auspices of a religious denomination, church, or religious organization."

In contrast, the activities organized by Mr. Mix are confidential. CP at 71. According to Mr. Mix, "[t]he details of what's happened within the ceremony [are] meant to be private." *Id.* Mr. Mix does not produce any treatment records and does not discuss treatment needs with other counseling staff at the SCC. The fact that the practices – and records thereof – are not able to be reviewed by persons performing the annual reviews means that the reviewer can never have a complete picture of the individual he or she is attempting to assess. Without record keeping, the only person assessing progress is Mr. Mix, who, as noted above, has no experience or training in conducting an assessment.

Nor is it clear how "progress" in such a program would be measured, a consideration that goes directly to the issue of whether the materials presented by Brogi demonstrate a substantial change in his mental condition. Brogi argues, based largely on Mr. Mix's Declaration, that his work in the NAHP has allowed him to "achiev[e] insight into his unconscious trauma' that led to his crimes and his poor decisions" (Pet. at 3; CP at 180) and has "enabled him to understand and accept his violent offense history." Pet. at 3. Brogi, however, continues to deny—as he always has—that he committed any sexually violent offenses at all. CP at 244-246; 248; 253. See also FN 3, infra. Likewise, Mr. Mix applauds Brogi for his "near completion" of his studies to become an addictions counselor with a specialty in, inter alia, Domestic Violence. CP at 181. He does so, however, without noting that Brogi continues to deny the brutal rape and assault of his fiancée, for which he was convicted. A thrice-convicted sex offender who

continues to deny that he has ever committed any sex offenses cannot plausibly be said to have changed in any meaningful way, much less in any way relevant to his risk of re-offense.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's decision denying his request for a new trial. This Court should deny review.